Brief of Appellant

Filed 08-14-2023

Page 1 of 14

FILED 08-14-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II Case Nos. 2023AP900-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

THEODORE J. POLCZYNSKI,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Judgment of Conviction of the Waukesha County Circuit Court, Case No. 2019CF811 The Honorable Paul F. Reilly, Presiding

> NATHAN M JUROWSKI State Bar No. 1073590

1121 Milwaukee Avenue, Suite 103 South Milwaukee, WI 53172 (262) 215-9656 nj@jurowskilaw.com

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Are the conditions restricting Mr. Polczynski's ability to own a business or operate as a general contractor unduly harsh?

Answered by the Circuit Court: No.

II. Did the Court erroneously exercise its discretion by imposing probation conditions that reflect its own idiosyncrasies?

Answered by the Circuit Court: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Mr. Polczynski does not request oral argument as he believes the briefs will fully present and meet the issues on appeal and fully develop the theories and legal authorities on each side so that oral argument would be of such marginal value that it does not justify the additional expenditure of court time or cost to the litigant.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Publication of this opinion is not necessary for the following reasons: the issue asserted is whether the evidence is sufficient to support the judgment and the briefs show the evidence is sufficient; and the issues are decided on the basis of controlling precedent and no reason appears for questioning or qualifying the precedent.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

On May 31, 2019, Theodore J. Polczynski was charged with two felony counts of Theft by Contractor, in amounts between \$10,000 and \$100,000, in violation of Wis. Stats. \$779.02(5), in Waukesha County 2019CF881, for acts alleged to have occurred on about April 13, 2018 and April 21, 2018 (R1:1-5; App. 6).

On October 21, 2022, Mr. Polczynski plead No Contest to two amended counts (R64; App. 11) of Misdemeanor Theft of Movable Property, Less Than \$2,500, Wis. Stats. §943.20 (1)(a). At sentencing, November 22, 2022, the Honorable Paul F. Reilly sentenced Mr. Polczynski to nine (9) months consecutive on each count, imposed and stayed for a period of two (2) years-probation, with the following relevant conditions, *inter alia*:

No ownership interest in any business and agent must approve all employment activities.

Must disclosed and provide banking information to agent.

May no longer be a general contractor.

(R69:2; App. 13).

The sentencing Court supported its sentence by stating "[y]ou don't get it"... "you're a criminal, and I'm treating you as a criminal." (R97:23 ¶¶ 15; App. 38) The Court further stated that "one of the conditions is you may not be a general contractor any longer..." (R97:24 ¶¶ 11-12; see also R97:26 ¶¶ 21-22; App. 39 and 41); "[y]ou will have to divest yourself of any business..." (R97:26 ¶¶ 13-14; see also R97:26 ¶¶ 13-17; App. 41); "[y]ou're going to be an employee, not a person who takes anyone else's money other than from your own employer, because you're not to be trusted..." (R97:24 ¶¶ 14-16; App.

39); "...you abuse other people for your own benefit." (R97:24 \P 18-19; App. 39).

Citing deterrence as a factor, the Court indicated its intent to "send a message to other general contractors who skirt the lines and take one person's money and use it for something else." (R97:24-25; App. 39-40).

The Court further cites Mr. Polczynski's character and rehabilitative needs (R97:25; App. 40); but that the predominant factor the Court was considering was punishment, indicating that Mr. Polczynski's four to five years of ongoing behavior could have ceased earlier than it did (R97:25 ¶¶ 12-25; App. 40).

On November 23, 2022, Mr. Polczynski, through trial counsel, filed a letter memorandum requesting the following relief from the Court's imposed conditions:

Include the oral allowance for a 3-month period for Mr. Polczynski to wind down or otherwise divest his current business interests in the judgment of conviction.

Qualify the prohibition on business ownership to limit it to general contracting arena.

(R70:1; App. 45).

On November 23, 2023, the Court responded by granting a 3-month stay of the relevant conditions – also reflected in the Amended Judgment of Conviction (R76:2; App. 4), but denied the request to limit the prohibition on business ownership to just general contracting (R71:1-2; App. 47 and 48).

Mr. Polczynski now seeks relief from the original and amended Judgement of Convictions requiring he have no ownership interest in any business and that he may no longer be a general contractor.

ARGUMENT

The charges and convictions in this case stem from transactions with three separate clients of Mr. Polczynski (R1) with total restitution remaining at sentencing of \$7,321.25¹ (R76:2; App. 4). In exchange, the sentencing Court deprived Mr. Polczynski of his livelihood, which Mr. Polczynski challenges as unduly harsh, unconscionable and personally subjective.

Sentencing is committed the trial court's to discretion. See State v. Gallion, 2004 WI 42, ¶17, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197. At sentencing, a court must consider the principal objectives of sentencing, including the protection of the community, the punishment and rehabilitation of the defendant, and deterrence to others. State v. Ziegler, 2006 WI App 49, ¶23, 289 Wis. 2d 594, 712 N.W.2d 76. In seeking to fulfill the sentencing objectives, the trial court should consider a variety of factors, including the gravity of the offense, the character of the offender, and the protection of the public. See State v. Odom, 2006 WI App 145, ¶7, 294 Wis. 2d 844, 720 N.W.2d 695. On appeal, the Court's review is limited to determining whether the circuit court's discretion was erroneously exercised. See Gallion, 2004 WI 42, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶17, 678 N.W.2d 197. Accordingly, the Court reviews the sentence challenged as unduly harsh and unconscionable for an erroneous exercise of discretion. See State v. Grindemann, 2002 WI App 106, ¶30, 255 Wis. 2d 632, 648 N.W.2d 507.

I. By stripping Mr. Polczynski of his livelihood, the Court's sentence was unduly harsh as excessive, unusual, and disproportionate to the offense committed, so as to shock the judgment of reasonable people.

¹ The estimated total damages are \$28,000, of which, by the date of sentencing, Mr. Polczynski had repaid \$21,000 (R97:3-4).

A sentence is unduly harsh "only where the sentence is so excessive and unusual and so disproportionate to the offense committed as to shock public sentiment and violate the judgment of reasonable people concerning what is right and proper under the circumstances." *Grindemann*, at ¶31.

As a business owner and general contractor, Mr. Polczynski has a statutorily recognized right to property ownership, which can only be impaired via due process of law – which Mr. Polczynski acknowledges he was afforded due process of law at the sentencing hearing. *See Schmidt v. State*, 68 Wis. 2d 512, 519, 228 N.W.2d 751 (1975).

Here, Mr. Polczynski's right to quiet enjoyment in his property has been infringed, and arguably an improper taking has occurred as interpreted through *Portsmouth Harbor Land & Hotel Co. v. United States*. See *Portsmouth Harbor Land & Hotel Co. v. United States*, 260 U.S. 327, 378, 43 S. Ct. 135 (1922). Unfortunately, the majority, if not all, of the cases which cite *Grindemann's* "shock the public sentiment" holding do so in the scope of reviewing the length of appellants' sentences and not one's property interests.² As such, there appears no clear standard, outside this Court's interpretation, of what would "shock public sentiment" in relation to deprivation of property rights in a criminal sentence. In lieu, Mr. Polczynski offers the following argument.

As stated *supra*, the basis of Mr. Polczynski's conviction stems from violating the trust of three separate clients, with Mr. Polczynski having satisfied 75 percent of the \$28,000 in restitution by the date of sentencing (R97:3-4). Despite the relatively few victims, as well as

² Results of Shepardized search on August 14, 2023, of *State v*. *Grindemann*, 2022 WI App 106, HN17, holding *inter alia*, "A sentence well within the limits of the maximum sentence is unlikely to be unduly harsh or unconscionable."

Mr. Polczynski's ongoing good-faith efforts to satisfy restitution, the sentencing Court deprived Mr. Polczynski of his livelihood.

At sentencing, one of the victims directly requests that restrictions be placed on Mr. Polczynski's ability to become a contractor again, depriving him of the ability to victimize other people (R97:6 ¶¶18-25). The State cites a Racine case with similar circumstances, but which was ultimately dismissed (R97:10-11). However, given that this was a purported first offense, there was no indication that Mr. Polczynski's offending behavior would continue after this conviction necessitating the conditions at issue.

It is clear based on the record that the offending behavior is Mr. Polczynski's handling of financial transactions, and not his business ownership or acting as a general contractor – i.e. the permanent deprivation of his statutorily protected property rights. These blanket restrictions are overly broad and more narrowly tailored restrictions can be drawn to further the protection of the public without unduly restricting Mr. Polczynski's liberties as proscribed in *State v. Stewart*. See *State v. Stewart*, 2006 WI App 67, 291 Wis. 2d 480, 713 N.W.2d 165.

Specific examples of more narrowly drawn restrictions might include the utilization of an independent third-party for the administration of all financial transactions with clients and the transparent reporting of these financial transactions through this independent third-party to the Department Agent administering Mr. Polczynski's sentence in this matter. This suggested third-party screening and transparent reporting conditions would prevent continued irreparable harm to Mr. Polczynski, as well as preventing substantial harm to other parties and preventing harm to the public interest.

The presence of these nominally intrusive alternatives, which are more narrowly tailored to the underlying offenses and which

Case 2023AP000900 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-14-2023 Page 11 of 14

would equally advance the sentencing interests identified by the Court, demonstrate that the current conditions are so excessive and unusual and so disproportionate to the offense committed as to shock public sentiment and violate the judgment of reasonable people concerning what is right and proper under the circumstances. Dictating to an individual that they shall be an employee and not an owner in a business should shock one's conscience.

II. Erroneous Exercise of Discretion by Imposing Conditions Reflecting Court's Own Idiosyncrasies

It is within the broad discretion of the trial court to impose appropriate conditions on probation as long as the conditions are reasonable and appropriate. State v. Carrizales, 191 Wis. 2d 85, 93, 528 N.W.2d 29, 31 (Ct. App. 1995); see Wis. Stat. § 973.01(5) ("the impose conditions upon the term of extended may supervision"). The conditions of probation are reasonable appropriate when they serve the goals of: (1) the rehabilitation of the offender; and (2) the protection of the community. State v. Simonetto, 2000 WI App 17, P6, 232 Wis. 2d 315, 606 N.W.2d 275. A trial court has the discretion to tailor individualized probation conditions; however, it should not erroneously exercise its discretion "by imposing probation conditions on convicted individuals that reflect only [its] own idiosyncrasies." State v. Oakley, 2001 WI 103, P13, 245 Wis. 2d 447, 629 N.W.2d 200.

Here, as argued *supra*, more individualized alternative conditions of probation existed which, objectively, would have accomplished the same sentencing goals (i.e. punishment (R97:25) and deterrence (R97:24-25)). By failing to consider these objective alternatives, the Court imposed its own subjective, harsher restrictions, thereby reflecting only its own idiosyncrasies on this issue.

Case 2023AP000900 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-14-2023 Page 12 of 14

Relatedly, the discussion in *State v. Rowan* is instructive in that it held that the individualized conditions of probation were "necessary based on the facts in [that] case..." *State v. Rowan*, 2012 WI 60 ¶4, 341 Wis. 2d 281, 814 N.W.2d 854 (2012). And that the applicable two part test required that the condition not be overly broad. *Id*.

Here, the sentencing Court failed to identify why the imposed conditions were necessary in light of viable, less intrusive alternatives. Similarly, the practical effect of these conditions has an overly broad impact when more individualized conditions could have been imposed to accomplish the same sentencing goals.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Mr. Polczynski respectfully requests this Court find that the relevant conditions of probation – i.e. no ownership interest in any business and agent must approve all employment activities; and may no longer be a general contractor – are unduly harsh, unconscionable and personally subjective; and that this matter be remanded to the Circuit Court directing that Mr. Polczynski be relieved from said conditions.