Page 1 of 18

FILED 10-25-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Appeal No. 2023AP000900 – CR

THEODORE J POLCZYNSKI,

Defendant-Appellant.

An Appeal From a Judgment of Conviction Entered by the Honorable Paul F. Reilly, Reserve Judge, Branch 7, Waukesha County

#### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

Susan L. Opper District Attorney

Waukesha County

Melissa J. Zilavy Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1097603 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Waukesha County District Attorney Office's 515 W. Moreland Boulevard, CG-72 Waukesha, WI 53188 (262)548-7076 Melissa.Zilavy@da.wi.gov

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

Are the conditions of probation that Polczynski not be a general contractor and that he divest in any business that he has an ownership interest unduly harsh and an abuse of discretion by the trial court to impose?

The trial court answered no.

### **POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION**

The Plaintiff-Respondent request neither oral argument or publication. The briefs in this matter can fully present and meet the issues on appeal and fully develop the theories and legal authorities on the issues. Publication is unnecessary as the issues presented relate solely to the application of existing law to the facts of the record.

#### **STATEMENT AND FACTS OF THE CASE**

Theodore Polczynski was originally charged in Waukesha County Case 2019CF811 with two counts of Theft By Contractor (>\$10,000-\$100,000), contrary to Wisconsin Statutes Sections 943.20(1)(b), 943.20(3)(c), and 779.02(5). (R. 1: Criminal Complaint of Waukesha Case 2019CF811, 1.) As to count one in the criminal complaint, Polczynski was contracted in 2018 to build a detached garage for victims B.I. and K.I., and was given a \$11,000 check in order to start work on the garage. (Id. at 2.) When Polczynski never started work on the garage, B.I. and K.I. asked for their money back. (Id.) Polczynski would only give them a refund if B.I. and K.I. signed a settlement agreement, which they refused to do. (Id.) Law enforcement received Polczynski's bank records which showed him depositing B.I. and K.I.'s \$11,000 check into his business account for Full Service Realty. (Id. at 3.) The money was then used for various items including \$10,020 for payment of a previous loan. (Id. at 3-4.) There were also other checks written out from the bank account to law firms, banks, townships, and various other companies, but none of them appeared to go towards anything related to building B.I. and K.I.'s garage. (Id. at 3.)

As to count two in the criminal complaint, Polczynski was also contracted by J.B. to build a detached garage in 2018. (*Id.* at 4.) J.B. gave Polczynski a total of \$12,500 to start work on the detached garage, but Polczynski never did so. (*Id.*) J.B. indicated that he hired an attorney, Jonathan Goodman, who spoke with Polczynski about the issue. (*Id.*) Goodman indicated that Polczynski told him that he filed bankruptcy and transferred the \$12,500 that J.B. paid him to another one of his businesses. (*Id.*) Law enforcement learned that Polczynski deposited J.B.'s checks into the same Full Service Reality account that he deposited B.I. and K.I.'s checks into. (*Id.* at 4-5.) Like with B.I. and K.I., the money was used to pay previous loans and various other items, but nothing related towards building J.B.'s garage. (*Id.* at 4-5.)

In addition to Waukesha County Case 2019CF811, Polczynski had also been charged in Waukesha County Case 2018CF1400 with Felony Theft from Business Setting (>\$2500 - \$5000), contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 943.20(1)(b) and (3)(bf), which was ultimately dismissed as part of the plea agreement. (Respondent Appendix: Criminal Complaint 2018CF1400, R-App 1.) The facts of the case were still brought up at sentencing. In 2018CF1400, Polczynski was a contractor on a house build in Salem, Racine. (*Id.* at R-App 1-2; R.97: Sentencing Transcript, 10-

11.) Polczynski eventually hired R&B Master Plumbers, owned by victim R.W., to finish some plumbing work on the house. (Respondent Appendix: Criminal Complaint Waukesha Case 2018CF1400, R-App 1-2; R.97: Sentencing Transcript, 11.) Polczynski had taken draws out from the homeowner's bank for plumbing, but never provided that to R.W. after he finished the plumbing work. (Respondent Appendix: Criminal Complaint Waukesha Case 2018CF1400, R-App 1-2.)

The total restitution amongst the three victims in Waukesha County Cases 2019CF811 and 2018CF1400 was \$28,985. As part of the plea agreement, Polczynski paid 75% of the total restitution up-front, which amounted to around \$21,500, and the State agreed to amend the two felony counts in 2019CF811 to two misdemeanor counts of Theft, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 943.20(1)(a) and (3)(a), and moved to outright dismiss Waukesha County Case 2018CF1400, with the understanding that Polczynski would still be required to pay any remaining restitution on 2018CF1400. (R. 97: Sentencing Transcript, 3-5; *See also* R.64: Amended Information.)

The parties proceeded to sentencing on November 22, 2022, in front of the Honorable Paul F. Reilly, who was acting as a Reserve Judge at the time. At sentencing, victim R.W. spoke and explained how Polczynski had done the same thing multiple times. (R. 97: Sentencing Transcript, 6.) R.W. also believed that Polczynski should be restricted as becoming a contractor as he may further victimize other people. (*Id.*) R.W. stated:

And just really hope, Your Honor, this is an example-type case where people in the future that think they can just run around and abuse a system that has been well put in place and contractors like myself who try to do a good job, [...] stand to prove that they're not like Mr. Polczynski and that we do things reputably and honestly and when someone gives us money to do something we do the job and if you do a job you get paid for it.

#### (*Id.* at 7.)

Victim K.I. spoke as well regarding the hardship and financial strain this caused her and her husband. (*Id.* at 9.) K.I. explained that Polczynski had played games throughout the pendency of the cases, including dismissing multiple attorneys any time the case would come to a jury trial or sentencing. (*Id.* at 9.) K.I. talked about how this entire time Polczynski was living in a million dollar home, and was now working with his son on social media to sell things to people. (*Id.* at 10.)

The State explained in its sentencing remarks the gravity of these offenses, and while not violent crimes, still impacted a great number of people immensely. (*Id.* at 14-15.) Further the State noted that Polczynski did not have a prior criminal record, but did have a separate case pending in Racine County in 2017 that was only dismissed after he paid full restitution of around \$15-20,000. (*Id.* at 10-11, 14.) Further, the State explained that before R.W. was the plumber for the house, there was a separate plumber who also had not gotten paid fully from Polczynski (*Id.* at 11.) The State explained that through the pendency of the case, it received numerous calls and emails from other people that hired Polczynski to do work for them, but he never completed it. (*Id.* at 13.) The State told the Court that Polczynski's bank records show that he has multiple businesses under various names, and multiple bank accounts at various banks. (*Id.* at 12.) Polczynski was consistently transferring money back and forth between his different businesses and different banks. (*Id.*)

When Polczynski spoke at sentencing, he appeared to minimize his conduct and attempt to blame the victims by saying that he issued cashier's checks to the victims, but they never picked them up. (*Id.* at 22.) He also stated that he thought it was the right thing to do at the time, but now realize it wasn't. (*Id.*)

When pronouncing sentence, Judge Reilly commented how Polczynski did not appear to truly understand the gravity of the situation, and how he was making excuses for his behavior. (*Id.* at 23.)

I need to look at the character of a person who appears before the Court when they've committed a crime. You don't even really seem to acknowledge that you committed a crime. You're saying you were doing the right thing by robbing Peter to pay Paul. You know, this is a crime like any other crime. You're a criminal, and I'm treating you as a criminal.

(Id.) When discussing specific conditions of probation, Judge Reilly stated:

[O]ne of the conditions is you may not be a general contractor any longer. You will have to divest yourself of any business. You're going to be an employee, not a person who takes anyone else's money other than form your own employer, because you're not to be trusted. It's obviously, clearly evident from all the facts in this case that you abuse other people for your own benefit.

(*Id.* at 24.)

Judge Reilly then went on right after to specifically explain that deterrence is an important factor in the sentence as he needed to "send a message to other general contractors who skirt the lines and take one person's money and use it for something else." (*Id.*) Further, Judge Reilly noted that Polczynski used the money for himself in several instances rather than for someone's project. (*Id.* at 24-25.)

Judge Reilly explained how rehabilitation factored into his sentencing in order to get Polczynski to stop stealing from people:

I don't know what it will take for you to get your mind set around the fact that you need to not steal from people, because that's what you're doing and you have repeatedly been doing so. Nothing I've heard from you today indicates that you have any intent to do otherwise.

#### (*Id.* at 25.)

Judge Reilly did impose a nine month jail sentence on each count and stayed it for two years probation. (*Id.* at 26-27.) The specific conditions of probation at issue in this case were that he "have no ownership interest in any business and any business that [Polczynski does] have an ownership interest, [he] must divest that ownership within the next three months;" and that he "not be a general contractor in the building industry." (*Id.* at 26.)

The defense now argues that the conditions that Polczynski divest from his businesses and not be a general contractor are unduly harsh and requests that he be relieved of those conditions of probation.

#### ARGUMENT

- I. Judge Reilly properly exercised his discretion by imposing probationary conditions that Polczynski divest in any businesses and not be a general contractor as they were reasonable and appropriate based on Polczynski's criminal conduct, and were not unduly harsh as there was a reasonable and justifiable basis in the record for the conditions.
  - a. Relevant Law

"Sentencing is a discretionary judicial act and appellate review is limited to determining whether there was an abuse of discretion." *State v. Borrell*, 167 Wis. 2d 749, 781, 482 N.W.2d 883 (1992), citing *State v. Harris*, 119 Wis. 2d 612, 622, 350 N.W.2d 633 (1984). Therefore, Wisconsin appellate courts enforce "a strong public policy against interference with the sentencing discretion of the trial court." *State v. Echols*, 175 Wis. 2d 653, 681, 499 N.W.2d 631, *cert. denied*, 510 U.S. 889 (1993), *quoting Harris*, 119 Wis. 2d at 622. This deference stems from the trial court's inherent advantage in considering the relevant sentencing factors and the demeanor of the defendant in each particular case. *See Echols*, 175 Wis. 2d at 682. Therefore, on appeal, a trial court's conclusion that a sentence was not unduly harsh is reviewed for an erroneous exercise of discretion. *See State v. Giebel*, 198 Wis. 2d 207, 220, 541 N.W.2d 815 (Ct. App. 1995).

A sentence is deemed to be unduly harsh or unconscionable if it is "so excessive and unusual and so disproportionate to the offense committed as to shock public sentiment and violate the judgment of reasonable people concerning what is right and proper under the circumstances." *State v. Wagner*, 191 Wis. 2d 322, 333, 528 N.W.2d 85 (Ct. App. 1995), *quoting Ocanas v. State*, 70 Wis. 2d 179, 185, 233 N.W.2d 457 (1975). Furthermore, when a defendant claims that his sentence was unduly harsh, it is the defendant's burden to "show some unreasonable or unjustifiable basis for the sentence in the record." *State v. Cooper*, 117 Wis. 2d 30, 40, 344 N.W.2d 194 (Ct. App. 1983). If the record contains evidence that the trial court properly exercised its discretion, the appellate court must affirm. *Id.* at 40.

Circuit courts retain considerable discretion at sentencing. *State v. Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, ¶ 17, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197. If the circuit court demonstrated a process of reasoning and came to a reasonable conclusion based on legally relevant facts and factors, this Court will not interfere with the sentencing decision. *State v. Cummings*, 2014 WI 88, ¶ 75, 357 Wis. 2d 1, 850 N.W.2d 915 (citation omitted).

When fashioning a sentence, a sentencing court must consider the gravity of the offense, the need to protect the public, the defendant's rehabilitative needs, and any applicable aggravating or mitigating factors. Wis. Stat. § 973.017(2). The sentence should reflect the minimum amount of confinement necessary that is consistent with these factors. *Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 44. The court may also consider the following: (1) the defendant's criminal history; (2) any history of

undesirable behavior patterns; (3) the defendant's personality and character; (4) the presentence investigation results; (5) the vicious or aggravated nature of the crime; (6) the defendant's degree of culpability; (7) the defendant's demeanor at trial; (8) the defendant's age, education and employment history; (9) the defendant's remorse, repentance and cooperativeness; (10) the need for rehabilitative control; (11) the rights of the public; and (12) the length of pretrial detention. *Harris v. State*, 75 Wis. 2d 513, 519–20, 250 N.W.2d 7 (1977). The circuit court retains considerable discretion in determining which factors are relevant and most important to its sentencing decision. *Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 68; *State v. Grady*, 2007 WI 81, ¶ 31, 302 Wis. 2d 80, 734 N.W.2d 364.

Further, Wisconsin Statutes Section 973.09(1)(a), which governs probation and conditions, states that a "court may impose any conditions which appear to be reasonable and appropriate." In *State v. Simonetto*, 2000 WI App 17, ¶ 6, 232 Wis. 2d 315, 319-320, 606 N.W.2d 275, 277, the Appeals Court further explained that:

[I]t is within the broad discretion of the circuit court to fashion appropriate conditions of probation in each individual case, *see State v. Nienhardt*, 196 Wis. 2d 161, 167, 537 N.W.2d 123, 125 (Ct. App. 1995), as long as those conditions 'appear to be reasonable and appropriate,' § 973.09(1)(a), STATS. On review, we test the validity of conditions of probation by how well they serve the dual goals of probation: rehabilitation and protection of the community. *See Nienhardt*, 196 Wis. 2d at 167, 537 N.W.2d at 125.

Courts have found that conditions of probation can "impinge upon constitutional rights as long as they are not overly broad and are reasonably related to the person's rehabilitation." *State v. Stewart,* 2006 WI App 67, ¶ 12, 291 Wis. 2d 480, 488, 713 N.W.2d 165, 169. "Whether a particular condition violates a defendant's constitutional right is a question of law which [an appellate] court reviews de novo." *Id.* As also noted by the court in *State v. Lo*, 228 Wis. 2d 531, 538, 599 N.W.2d 659, 662-63 (Ct. App. 1999):

Conviction of a crime invariably leads to restrictions on—and sometimes outright denials of—a defendant's constitutional rights. The test is not whether a particular probation condition restricts [a defendant's] constitutional rights, but only whether the condition is so overbroad that it may not be said to reasonably relate to his rehabilitation.

The Court in *Lo* explained that when deciding a condition of probation is overboard, the standard is guided by that which governs overbreadth challenges to statutes:

A statute is overboard when its language, given its normal meaning, is so sweeping that its sanctions may be applied to constitutionally protected conduct which the state is not permitted to regulate. The essential vice of an overbroad law is that by sweeping protected activity within its reach it deters citizens from exercising their protected constitutional freedoms, the so-called "chilling-effect."

Lo, 228 Wis. 2d at 538, 599 N.W.2d at 663 (internal citations omitted).

#### b. Applying Relevant Law to Polczynski's Case

There is a strong public policy against overturning Judge Reilly's sentencing decision, and this Court must only review the conditions of probation to determine if the conditions were unduly harsh and/or are not reasonably related to the goals of probation. In this case, Judge Reilly explained the reason for imposing such conditions on Polczynski based on the facts and circumstances of Polczynski's conduct, and they were not unduly harsh as they reasonably related to the main sentencing goals of rehabilitation and protection of the community.

The conditions of probation were not so excessive and unusual in relation to Polczynski's criminal conduct that it shocks the public sentiment and violates the judgment of reasonable people. Polczynski argues that it shocks one's conscious to tell an individual to be an employee and not a business owner. Polczynski adds no further argument about why it shocks the conscious except to say that an improper taking of his property has occurred, and causes a "permanent deprivation of his statutorily protected property rights." (Brief of Appellant, 6.)

First, the State fails to see how this is a permanent deprivation of his property rights. The conditions of probation can only be in place while he is on probation. Once he has completed probation, there is no court order saying that he is not allowed to reinvest in his businesses and be a general contractor again.

Second, it is for Polczynski to show that there is "some unreasonable or unjustifiable basis for the sentence in the record." *Cooper*, 117 Wis. 2d at 40. Polczynski has not done so, and the record actually shows the contrary. As noted by the Court in *Lo*, when someone is convicted of a crime, it will lead to restrictions on a person's rights, and sometimes even their constitutional rights. In this case, Judge Reilly heard from several victims about how Polczynski has victimized individuals through being the owner of his business. Polczynski then used his position as the owner of the business and general contractor to get money from the victims, cash the checks into his business account, and then use the money from his business account for his own personal expenses unrelated to the victims' projects. This was not simply just Polczynski mishandling of financial transactions as Polczynski argues. (Brief of Appellant, 6.) The facts of each case show that Polczynski did not simply commit these crimes as individual, but used his own business and position as a general contractor to perpetrate the crimes. Additionally, the criminal complaints and facts presented at sentencing showed that Polczynski had several businesses and several bank accounts where he would move money around from each of his businesses after receiving money to complete projects. Therefore, it is clear that divesting in his business and not being a general contractor is reasonable and justifiable in Polczynski's case as that is the way he committed these crimes in the first place.

Judge Reilly explained before imposing the conditions that it did not appear that Polczynski truly understood the gravity of what he did and was making excuses. After imposing the conditions of not being a general contractor and divesting himself of any business, Judge Reilly stated that it was evident that Polczynski abused other people for his own benefit, and he should not be allowed to take anyone else's money except from his own employer. Further, Judge Reilly explained that he needed to help rehabilitate Polczynski, which is one of the factors a court must consider for sentencing. Judge Reilly reasonably believed that in order to get Polczynski to stop stealing from people, this sentence, including its conditions, was necessary as he did not know what else it would take for Polczynski to get the message. Judge Reilly then also went on to explain how one of the sentencing goals here was deterrence, and that other contractors needed to know that you cannot take someone's money and use it for something else.

Polczynski has also not demonstrated that not being a general contractor and divesting in his businesses are so overbroad that it does not reasonably relate to his rehabilitation. The conditions specifically address his rehabilitative needs since it did not appear that Polczynski otherwise understood the gravity of his crimes. While Polczynski claims that these conditions only reflect Judge Reily's "own idiosyncrasies," and there were less intrusive means, the record made by Judge Reilly shows the contrary—the conditions were specifically crafted based on Polczynski's individual facts and circumstances, Polczynski's own statements at sentencing, and the lawfully recognized goals of sentencing.

Furthermore, these conditions are not so sweeping that it may deter citizens from exercising their protected constitutional freedoms. What these conditions do demonstrate to the public, and Judge Reilly even explicitly commented on during his sentencing remarks, is that contractors who "skirt the lines and take one person's money and use it for something else," will know that this behavior is unacceptable and will be rightfully punished. What it does not do is cause lawfully abiding general contractors and business owners to not go into those fields in fear that they too will be forced to divest in their business or be denied a certain profession.

#### CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that this Court find that Judge Reilly appropriately exercised his discretion when imposing conditions of probation that Polczynski not be a general contractor and divest his ownership in any businesses based on the facts and circumstances of Polczynski's cases.